STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Clarendon County

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

GEORGE SMITH,

PETITIONER

RECEIVED
OCT 02 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000027

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did trial counsel's introduction of evidence of Petitioner's alleged flight following the shooting incident while cross-examining the lead investigator violate Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

STATEMENT

On Saturday, April 65, 2008, shortly after 9:30 p.m., Kelvin Black went to his neighborhood bar, The Bait Shop, after work. App. 23, ll. 13-15; App. 24, ll. 9-25. Kelvin used a pathway commonly used by residents in his apartment complex. App. 26, ll. 2-4. Several hours later, Kelvin left the bar to return to his apartment. App. 26, l. 23 – App. 27, l. 9; App. 61, ll. 16-23.

While walking on the path, Kelvin claimed he saw Petitioner, whom he knew as “Chips.” App. 27, l. 14 – App. 28, l. 16. According to Kelvin, Chips asked him for his “chains and stuff around [his] neck.” App. 28, ll. 1-2. When asked by Chips for money, Kelvin said he did not have any money. App. 28, ll. 3-4; App. 29, ll. 14-22. Kelvin claimed Chips had a gun when he requested Kelvin’s chains and money. App. 29, ll. 1-5.

Later during the state’s case-in-chief, Kelvin elaborated, in narrative form, regarding what allegedly took place while he was walking along that path to return home from a night of drinking.

Well when I was coming through the path, I was walking with my head down. I heard a gun click. And I looked back. It was George behind me. George is called “Chips.” He was behind me. I didn’t pay no attention. I walked, he fired the gun and missed. Next I had decided to ran. When I ran, I was in front of my apartment building at the time. He shot me. I fell. After he shot me in my leg, I fell. And I scooped myself back to the mailbox. In front of the mailbox. He was coming behind the mailbox. And this was my wife who was looking back through the window. Calling the police. He came over to me with the gun, and get my two chains. And he asked me if I had any money. I didn’t have no money at the time. He clicked the gun again and for some reason, it didn’t fire.

At the time he made a statement and he ran off. And I scooted myself back to the door. I tried to stand up, and when I stand up, I fell forward into my wife’s arms, and I don’t remember nothing else from there.

App. 30, ll. 3-24.¹

Kelvin did not consider Petitioner a friend. App. 33, ll. 1-3. He recalled he and Petitioner went to a bar one night. App. 33, ll. 4-7. According to Kelvin, he and Petitioner talked, “[a]nd it all started from there.” App. 33, ll. 7-8.

Tasha Cannon, Kelvin’s wife, called Kelvin between 12 and 1 o’clock telling him to return home. App. 61, ll. 16-23. While waiting for Kelvin, Tasha put their baby to bed upstairs. App. 62, ll. 19-21. Tasha opened the bedroom window and lay down to sleep. App. 62, ll. 21-24. She then heard Kelvin behind the apartment, arguing. App. 62, ll. 24-25. Tasha heard another voice as well. App. 63, l. 11. When she heard gunshots, she ran downstairs. App. 63, ll. 12-13. Upon hearing another gunshot, Tasha ran outside. Tr. 64, ll. 11-13.

Tasha claimed Kelvin was running toward the apartment and “Chips” shot a gun. App. 64, ll. 16-23. Tasha ran back in the house, locking the door behind her. App. 64, ll. 19-20. Tasha called 911, while her sister who lived with them, looked out an upstairs window. App. 65, ll. 13-16. Tasha identified Petitioner as the person who shot Kelvin. App. 68, l. 23 – App. 69, l. 8. Tasha had identified Petitioner to the police from a photographic line-up. App. 69, ll. 11-18; App. 82, ll. 1-10.²

On August 21, 2008, a Clarendon County grand jury indicted Petitioner for assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK), armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime (2008-GS-14-0352). App. 292-293. The state, represented by Amy A. Land, called the

¹ Although Kelvin Black did not testify regarding viewing a photographic line-up, the lead investigator, Thomas Burgess, told the jurors that he showed Black a photographic line-up. App. 88, l. 5 – App. 89, l. 3. Burgess claimed that Kelvin identified Petitioner from the line-up, but that the line-up did not show any markings because Burgess did not permit Kelvin to touch it because he had blood on his hands. App. 89, ll. 4-20. There was no objection to the identification procedure. App. 88, l. 20.

² There was no objection to the identification procedure. App. 85, ll. 12-23; App. 86, l. 22.

case for trial on December 8, 2009, before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran and a jury. App. 1. Harry Devoe represented Petitioner. App. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 138, l. 21 – App. 139, l. 7.

Judge Cothran sentenced Petitioner to twenty-six years' imprisonment for ABWIK, twenty-five years' imprisonment for armed robbery, and five years' imprisonment for the weapon. App. 146, ll. 8-15. Unaware that Judge Cothran's sentence exceeded the statutory maximum and was illegal, trial counsel moved to reconsider the sentence for ABWIK, asking to reduce the sentence by one year to twenty-five years' imprisonment. App. 146, l. 25 – App. 147, l. 2; App. 258, ll. 4-14; App. 294-196. Judge Cothran denied the motion. App. 147, ll. 3-9. Judge Cothran stated the "only reason" he "didn't max" Petitioner was because he was young and did not have a significant record. App. 147, ll. 7-9. However, at some point later, Judge Cothran changed Petitioner's sentence to twenty-five years' imprisonment, the statutory *maximum* for ABWIK. App. 294.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, which was perfected by Elizabeth A. Franklin-Best. App. 149-157. The only issue raised was whether the judge erred in sentencing Petitioner to twenty-six years' imprisonment for ABWIK because the sentence exceeded the statutory maximum, and was illegal. App. 149-157. The state responded that although Petitioner's sentence was illegal, the issue was not preserved for appeal because trial counsel failed to object. App. 158-167. The Court of Appeals affirmed. App. 168. Remittitur was sent on June 25, 2012. App. 169.

On August 22, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on August 22, 2012. App. 170-177. On September 5, 2014, Petitioner filed an amendment to his application. Supp. App. 1-3. An evidentiary hearing convened on September 10, 2014, before

the Honorable Clifton B. Newman. App. 184. Daniel F. Gourley, II, represented the state, and Tricia A. Blanchette represented Petitioner. App. 184. During the hearing, Judge Newman agreed to leave the record open for Petitioner to present additional evidence. App. 263, ll. 13-14. On October 2, 2014, Petitioner's counsel wrote to Judge Newman asking the record be closed because the additional witness was unavailable. Supp. App. 5. By an order filed November 15, 2016, Judge Newman denied Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences. App. 275-291.

After receiving notice of the order denying relief on December 20, 2016, Petitioner served his notice of appeal on January 9, 2017. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel introduced evidence of Petitioner's alleged flight following the shooting incident while cross-examining the lead investigator in violation of Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

Relevant facts

Only three people testified at Petitioner's trial. The lead detective on the case, Thomas Burgess, was the state's third and final witness. App. 79, ll. 5-7. Burgess described talking to Kelvin and Tasha about the shooting. App. 80, l. 21 – App. 82, l. 23. Burgess revealed that he knew Petitioner as Chips. App. 81, ll. 21-22; App. 87, ll. 19-22; App. 89, ll. 17-20. He told the jurors that the officers who went to the crime scene, but did not testify, "were already talking about 'Chips.'" App. 81, ll. 13-15. After describing the shell casings he allegedly found at the apartment complex, Burgess told the jurors that if law enforcement does not have a gun to use for comparison purposes, then SLED will not accept any shell casings. App. 92, ll. 16-22. He then told the jurors, in response to leading questions by the solicitor, that he had no gun in this case because the police "did not apprehend the suspect for 2 months." App. 92, l. 23 – App. 93, l. 2.

When trial counsel cross-examined Burgess, he queried whether Burgess had said "there were no suspects for two months." App. 99, ll. 4-5. Burgess quickly responded that Trial counsel was incorrect. App. 99, l. 6. Rather, Burgess explained, "I said we did not take him in to custody for 2 months. We were looking for him. And I had to actually have the assistance of marshal services to take him in to custody." App. 99, ll. 8-11. Despite this damning testimony, trial counsel persisted by asking if Burgess misspoke during his testimony on direct examination.

App. 99, ll. 12-13. Burgess repeated that he “never said” the police “had no suspect.” App. 99, l. 14. Upon further questioning by defense counsel, Burgess reiterated that he knew who Chips was prior to Kelvin or Tasha identifying anyone from the photo line-up procedures. App. 99, ll. 15-20. Trial counsel then wanted to know how Burgess knew Chips’ real identity. App. 99, ll. 21-22. At this, the solicitor objected and a bench conference, which was not recorded, ensued. App. 99, ll. 23-25. When questioning resumed, defense counsel did not continue with that line of questioning. App. 100, ll. 104.

In his amended application for PCR, Petitioner challenged trial counsel’s prejudicial deficient performance of “introducing evidence of [Petitioner]’s flight through cross-examination of Investigator Burgess.” Supp. App. 1. Petitioner pursued this claim at the PCR hearing. Petitioner testified that trial counsel “put in evidence of [his] flight for two months.” App. 214, ll. 14-17. Petitioner knew this evidence was not “favorable” to him. App. 214, ll. 18-19.

Trial counsel explained that Petitioner’s trial was called “with no notice.” App. 247, ll. 20-23. In fact, he “had no notice of this trial under December 7th,” the day before Petitioner’s trial. App. 253, ll. 10-14; App. 254, ll. 3-7. Trial counsel so no need to explain the lack of notice to the trial judge because “Judge Cothran knows that because he used to be a solicitor. So, he did also.” App. 253, ll. 15-18. He had never made any complaints about lack of notice on the record because he “never thought it was that important.” App. 253, ll. 19-24. Incongruously, trial counsel testified that the lack of notice hindered his ability to provide Petitioner with a proper defense. App. 254, ll. 9-13. It was not until the day the case was called and the jury was selected that trial counsel met with Petitioner’s mother and went to the crime scene. App. 254, ll. 15-18.

Although he “thought [he] was prepared enough to go to trial,” he explained that as a public defender, he did not “get a lot of time sometimes.” App. 249, ll. 1-3. Trial counsel elaborated on being a public defender in that county: “The public defender’s office consisted of me and maybe the other public defender. We had no secretary; we had no investigator. We had really nothing.” App. 252, ll. 11-16. He was aware that if he needed the assistance of an investigator, he could ask the court for funding. App. 252, ll. 17-21. However, in his fifteen years as public defender he had never requested funding for an investigator. App. 252, ll. 6-7; App. 252, ll. 22-24.

He recalled the state had a weak case against Petitioner as it depended solely on the testimony of eyewitnesses. App. 248, ll. 4-21; App. 250, ll. 6-11. His strategy was “to try to impugn the ability of the witnesses to see the victim outside” and “attack the identification” made by the “two witnesses.” App. 249, ll. 7-21. According to trial counsel, Petitioner denied robbing Kelvin, but admitted to threatening him. App. 245, ll. 14-17. Kelvin shot Petitioner “several months earlier in the hand, and so there [was] some bad blood between the two of them.” App. 245, ll. 18-20. Later, trial counsel claimed that Petitioner said he did not steal anything from Kelvin, but he did hit him. App. 261, ll. 1-7; App. 261, ll. 18-22.

Concerning his question of Burgess regarding the police not having a suspect for two months, defense counsel claimed it was “not intended to elicit the fact that [Petitioner] had fled for two months.” App. 251, ll. 12-15. He further claimed Burgess’s answer was not in response to his question. App. 251, ll. 16-17.

Denying Petitioner relief based upon trial counsel eliciting evidence of flight during the cross-examination of Burgess, the PCR judge found “the testimony elicited on cross-examination of Burgess was cumulative in nature.” App. 287. Specifically, the court pointed to Burgess’s

testimony “on direct that they ‘did not apprehend the suspect for 2 months.’” App. 287. According to the court it was “clear from the record that trial counsel was merely attempting to clarify Investigator Burgers [sic] comments on direct.” App. 287. Thus, the court concluded trial counsel’s “actions were reasonable in the circumstances and did not fall below professional norms of reasonableness.” App. 287.

Additionally, the court contended Petitioner could “show no resulting prejudice due to trial counsel’s alleged deficiencies as there [was] clear evidence of overwhelming guilt.” App. 288. Citing Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 570 n.3, 552 S.E.2d 718, 722 n.3 (2001), the court contended “[w]here there is overwhelming evidence of guilt, a trial counsel’s deficient performance will not be prejudicial.” App. 288. The court also claimed it was in agreement with what it called trial counsel’s “characterization of the state’s evidence against [Petitioner] as ‘overwhelming.’” App. 288.³ Concerning this so-called “overwhelming” evidence, the PCR court claimed Petitioner “was positively identified by three separate witnesses” and that “[t]wo of those three witnesses made in court identifications of [Petitioner].” App. 288. The PCR court considered “[e]ven more significant” was trial counsel’s claim that Petitioner “admitted guilt during the course of his representation.” App. 288.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686.

³ Trial counsel never testified that the evidence against Petitioner was “overwhelming.”

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. “When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Id. at 688.

Concerning prejudice, “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Rather, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694. Specifically, on the prejudice prong, the question to ask is “whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finding would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.” Id. (emphasis added). The United States Supreme Court specifically ruled that “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Id. Moreover, the Court held that:

The ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. In every case the court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.

Id. at 696.

Thus, in a PCR action, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) counsel’s performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Id. at 695.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1073 (1970). The South Carolina Supreme Court has held “[f]light from prosecution is admissible as evidence of guilt.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006). However, “the relevance of flight evidence is premised on a nexus between the flight and the offense charged.” State v. Robinson, 360 S.C. 187, 195, 600 S.E.2d 100, 104 (Ct. App. 2004). In fact, “[e]vidence of flight should be excluded when the flight is clearly linked to a separate offense for which the defendant is not on trial.” Id. Along these lines, this Court held “[u]nexplained flight is admissible as indicating consciousness of guilt, for it is not as likely that one who is blameless and conscious of that fact would flee.” State v. Crawford, 362 S.C. 627, 635, 608 S.E.2d 886, 890 (Ct. App. 2005).

“The critical factor to the admissibility of evidence of flight is whether the totality of the evidence creates an inference that the defendant had knowledge that he was being sought by the authorities.” State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 315, 513 S.E.2d 606, 612 (1999). “It is sufficient that circumstances justify an inference that the accused’s actions were motivated as a result of his belief that police officers were aware of his wrongdoing and were seeking him for that purpose.” State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 655, 623 S.E.2d 122, 128 (2005). However, the Fourth Circuit has determined that when the state resorts to evidence of flight, the state generally has a weak case. See United States v. Foutz, 540 F.2d 733, 740 (4th Cir. 1976)(stating “[t]he inference that one who flees from the law is motivated by consciousness of guilt is weak at best”).

Although this Court has held that evidence of flight is admissible in the above-described circumstances, this Court held that an instruction on flight is inappropriate. State v. Grant, 275 S.C. 404, 407, 272 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1980). Quoting State v. Jefferson, 524 P.2d 248 (1974), this

Court explained that charges on flight “merely sanction the use of circumstantial evidence” and “place undue emphasis upon that evidence.” Grant, 275 S.C. at 407, 272 S.E.2d at 171. Further, this Court explained that “evidence of flight tends to be only marginally probative as to the ultimate issue of guilt or innocence.” Id. (quoting Jefferson, 524 P.2d at 248). Ultimately, this Court concluded that “[t]he charge on flight oftentimes has the potential for creating more problems than solutions.” Id. at 408, 272 S.E.2d at 171.

The state did not introduce evidence of Petitioner’s alleged flight following the shooting. Thus, defense counsel’s questioning of Burgess, which revealed that Petitioner was not apprehended by police for two months and that the local police had to seek assistance from the United States Marshall Service, informed the jurors of information they would not have had without defense counsel’s blunder. In short, defense counsel opened the door to evidence of flight with his inept questioning.

In State v. Major, 301 S.C. 181, 185, 391 S.E.2d 235, 238 (1990), this Court explained “[w]hen the accused offers evidence of his good character regarding specific character traits relevant to the crime charged, the solicitor has the right to cross-examine him as to particular bad acts or conduct.” The prosecution is restricted “to showing bad character only for the traits initially focused on by the accused.” Id. When Major denied having ever used crack cocaine, the prosecutor was permitted to introduce evidence of a prior conviction for simple possession of cocaine. This Court found Major had made a “clear attempt ... to communicate to the jury that he [was] not the sort of individual who would become involved in the drug trade.” Id. at 185-186, 391 S.E.2d at 238. In short, the state was permitted to respond with evidence of Major’s previous drug conviction because Major had insinuated to the jury that he was not the type of person who would engage in the drug business. Id. at 186, 391 S.E.2d at 238.

In State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 316 S.E.2d 395 (1984), this Court found a defendant had opened the door to his previous participation in two armed robberies because he had questioned an accomplice regarding prior housebreakings. The accomplice had been charged with the same crimes for which Stroman stood trial. However, the accomplice had entered guilty pleas and agreed to testify for the state. After Stroman questioned the accomplice about prior housebreakings, the prosecutor was permitted to question the accomplice about two robberies in which Stroman was an accomplice. Id. at 512-513, 316 S.E.2d at 398-399. This Court held “[w]here one party introduces evidence as to a particular fact or transaction, the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even though [the] latter evidence would be incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially.” Id. at 513, 316 S.E.2d at 399 (quoting State v. Albert, 277 S.E.2d 439 (N.C. 1981)).

In a post-conviction relief case, Vaughn v. State, 362 S.C. 163, 171, 607 S.E.2d 72, 76 (2004), this Court held a defendant was entitled to a new trial based upon the solicitor’s improper closing argument where the defendant’s attorney had opened the door to invited reply during the defense’s closing argument. The defendant’s attorney asked the jury to remember that only one officer testified on behalf of the prosecution concerning observing drugs despite the fact that another officer and civilians were present. Id. at 167, 607 S.E.2d at 74. The solicitor then informed the jury she did not present additional witnesses because she did not want to waste the jurors’ time. She also stated that the rules of evidence did not permit the presentation of duplicative testimony. She told the jury that if any of the potential witnesses listed by the defendant’s attorney would have testified differently than the testifying witness, then the defendant had the ability to subpoena those witnesses to testify. She also stated she did not call the other witnesses because they would have said “the very same thing” that the officer presented said. Id. at 168, 607 S.E.2d at 74.

This Court recognized that improper argument includes vouching for witnesses and initiating argument about the testimony of absent witnesses. Id. at 169, 607 S.E.2d at 75. Additionally, this Court recognized that the defendant “‘opened the door’ to some response from the solicitor” based on his closing argument concerning the absence of witnesses. Id. at 170, 607 S.E.2d at 75. This Court held that the solicitor’s response was unfair and prejudicial in light of the lack of evidence of the defendant’s guilt. Id. at 170, 607 S.E.2d at 75-76. Thus, this Court found trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor’s closing argument. Id. at 171, 607 S.E.2d at 76.

The Texas Court of Appeals found defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance by opening the door to otherwise inadmissible extraneous offense or bad act evidence. Defense counsel asked if the defendant had ever sexually assaulted anybody, whether he had ever been accused of sexually assaulting anybody, and whether he had been arrested for sexually assaulting anybody. The defendant responded negatively to all three questions. The prosecution then presented a witness who testified that the defendant sexually assaulted her when she was a child. Despite the objection, the trial court ruled the evidence was admissible based upon defense counsel opening the door. Additionally, defense counsel questioned the defendant about a prior arrest for driving while intoxicated and possession of handguns. This allowed the prosecutor to question the defendant about a shooting in his home, two additional arrests for driving while intoxicated, and a statement he made to a doctor about having been arrested seven times for public intoxication. Garcia v. State, 308 S.W.3d 62, 66-67 (Tx. Ct. App. 2009). The Texas Court found that “[g]iven the inherently prejudicial nature of extraneous offense evidence, the fact that the evidence would not have been otherwise admissible by the state during guilt/innocence, and the fact that [the] defense

rested almost entirely on [the defendant's] credibility, there could have been no reasonable trial strategy" for opening the door to the inadmissible evidence. Id. at 68.

In People v. Cyrus, 848 N.Y.S.2d 67 (N.Y. App. Div. 2007), the New York Supreme Court found defense counsel provided ineffective assistance to Cyrus by inadvertently opening the door to a police officer's damaging testimony about the contents of a videotape showing Cyrus leaving the scene of the alleged armed robbery. At trial, Cyrus admitted to committing a larceny, but denied robbing the store clerk with a box cutter. Id. at 71. Two eyewitnesses testified that Cyrus had a box cutter, a box cutter was found on the street, and Cyrus admitted in a statement to having a box cutter. Id. Although the prosecution did not question the officer about the videotape and defense counsel did not investigate the contents of the videotape prior to trial, defense counsel still questioned the officer about the tape. This questioning permitted the prosecutor to ask the officer about the contents of the tape on re-direct. The officer claimed he saw the person in the video raise his right hand, which contained "like sort of a metallic object." Id. at 71-72. The video was not available for trial because the tape in evidence was blank; the officer "guess[ed] the copy was copied wrong." Id. at 72. Subsequently, a second officer testified that the video showed the defendant with a silver object that the officer later knew to be a knife. Id.

The Court found there was no rational justification for failing to investigate the videotape. Defense counsel's failure to investigate the tape "was compounded by counsel's even worse decision to ask [the first officer] about it." "Opening the door to the admission of damaging testimony against the accused, especially when due to a lack of investigation of the facts, has often led to a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel." Id. at 73. The testimony of two officers to having seen a metal object in the defendant's hand on the video provided objective corroboration of the store clerks' testimony. Additionally, the testimony of the officers was "virtually

unimpeachable” due to the destruction of the tape. Due to trial counsel’s “one misguided line of questioning,” the defense was “obliterated.” Id.

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