STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

FEB 16 2018

Certiorari to Clarendon County
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2017-000027

GEORGE SMITH,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 102214

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court correctly held that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for allegedly introducing evidence of Petitioner's flight on cross-examination of Investigator Burgess where his testimony was not evidence of flight and where Petitioner can show no resulting prejudice.

Petitioner alleges the PCR court erred in failing to find Trial Counsel ineffective for unintentionally opening the door to evidence of Petitioner's flight while cross-examining Investigator Burgess. However, this issue is meritless, as the testimony in question did not constitute evidence of flight so Trial Counsel was not deficient in eliciting the testimony, and Petitioner failed to establish any resulting prejudice from this alleged deficiency.

First, the PCR court properly found Trial Counsel was not deficient for eliciting testimony from Investigator Burgess about law enforcement's two-month search for their suspect that resulted in obtaining the assistance of United States Marshals to put Petitioner in custody because this is not evidence of flight. The testimony to which Petitioner refers appears during the cross-examination of Burgess, after Burgess testified on direct that he knew immediately the identity of the shooter. App. 81. On direct, the solicitor asked Burgess what occurred when he met the victim at the hospital:

Burgess: And the first question I try to ask is, "Who shot you." I want the basic information.
Solicitor: And did you ask [the victim] that?
A: Yes, I did.
Q: And what was his answer?
A: "Chips. Chips shot me."
Q: Was there any hesitation or doubt in your mind?
A: No. He just said, "Chips." Chips shot him. That's what I began to put it together. On my way to the scene, the officers were already talking about "Chips." And as you know, he mentioned something to one of the officers that Chips was the possible shooter. I was familiar. At that point, I left and went to the office, because they were working on it for a while. And put together a lineup.
Q: Did you know who Chips was?

A: Yes, ma'am.

App. 81, line 3-22. Later, in response to a question about how a gun was never apprehended, Burgess stated, "No ma'am. We did not apprehend the suspect for 2 months." App. 93, line 1-2.

On cross-examination, Trial Counsel asked for clarification on this statement:

Trial Counsel: You also mention at the very end, you say there were no suspects for two months.

A: No, I do not say no suspects.

Q: I thought you said that.

A: I said we did not take him in to custody for 2 months. We were looking for him. And I had to actually have the assistance of marshal services to take him into custody.

Q: So you misspoke when you said no. You meant looking for the suspect.

A: I never said we had no suspect, no.

App. 99, line 4-14.

Petitioner asserts Burgess's testimony constitutes evidence of flight that convinced the jury of Petitioner's guilt. However, this testimony is not evidence of flight. Evidence of flight is evidence that an accused fled from or purposefully evaded law enforcement to avoid apprehension when he had knowledge that he was being sought by authorities. See State v. Crawford, 362 S.C. 627, 608 S.E.2d 886 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 513 S.E.2d 606 (1999); State v. McDowell, 266 S.C. 508, 224 S.E.2d 889 (1976). Evidence of particular acts of flight is used to show consciousness of guilt. State v. Martin, 403 S.C. 19, 742 S.E.2d 42 (Ct. App. 2013). Our supreme court has identified the "critical factor to the admissibility of evidence of flight" as "whether the totality of the evidence creates an inference that the defendant had knowledge that he was being sought by the authorities ... [and his] actions were motivated as a result of his belief that police officers were aware of his wrongdoing and were seeking him for that purpose." Id., (citing State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 209, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006)).

This Court has held that evidence of flight from prosecution is admissible as evidence of guilt. State v. Thompson, 278 S.C. 1, 292 S.E.2d 581 (1982) (evidence of flight admissible to show guilty knowledge, intent, and that defendant sought to avoid apprehension), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991). However, in order for the evidence to be relevant, there must be a nexus between the flight and the offense committed. State v. Robinson, 360 S.C. 187, 195, 600 S.E.2d 100, 104 (Ct.App.2004). “To establish this causal chain, there must be evidence that the defendant fled or attempted to flee and that supports inferences that (1) the defendant's flight was the product of consciousness of guilt, and (2) his consciousness of guilt was in relation to the crime with which he was ultimately charged and on which the evidence is offered.” Martin, at 29, 742 S.E.2d at 47 (citing United States v. Obi, 239 F.3d 662, 665 (4th Cir.2001)).

Burgess’s testimony does not constitute evidence of flight. His testimony did not include any evidence that Petitioner was evading law enforcement or fled to avoid arrest. No evidence was presented that law enforcement knew Petitioner’s address or location but was not able to find him there because he fled. The solicitor did not argue to the jury that Petitioner fled from law enforcement and thus must be guilty. There was simply no evidence that Petitioner fled or attempted to flee. The only evidence Petitioner claims was “damning” is Burgess’s testimony that the officers were looking for the suspect for two months and needed assistance to take him into custody. It is a stretch of the imagination to consider this as evidence that Petitioner fled and that his flight was the product of consciousness of guilt in relation to this crime, as case law requires for evidence of flight. Accordingly, because this testimony is not evidence of flight, Trial Counsel cannot be deficient for eliciting evidence of flight at trial.

Furthermore, it was reasonable for Trial Counsel to ask this question on cross-examination, as his intention was clearly to weaken Burgess's credibility by contrasting his statement that he immediately knew who the shooter was while speaking to the victim with the fact that he could not find a suspect for two months after the incident. Trial Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that his trial strategy was to attack the ability of the witnesses to see and identify the shooter in the middle of the night in a dim area through a small, dirty window. App. 249, line 7-21. To question Burgess on his inability to find a suspect for two months would align with this strategy and suggest to the jury that the victims and law enforcement may not have been sure about their identification of the shooter, after all. Burgess's response, which included the statement about having United States Marshals assist in Petitioner's arrest, was not responsive to Trial Counsel's question, but simply a clarification on what he meant in his testimony on direct. The PCR court correctly held Trial Counsel's actions were reasonable under the circumstances and his representation while cross-examining Burgess was not deficient.

Second, even assuming *arguendo* that the testimony in question was evidence of flight, Petitioner can show no prejudice from any alleged deficiency by Trial Counsel because the testimony had no impact on the guilty verdict. This Court has held evidence of flight has very little probative value. State v. Grant, 275 S.C. 404, 408, 272 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1980) ("Evidence of flight tends to be only marginally probative.") (quoting State v. Jefferson, 11 Wash.App. 566,524 P.2d 248, 251 (1974)). This Court has also held that improper admission of evidence of flight is not prejudicial where the State presents other competent evidence of guilt. See Martin, at 31, 742 S.E.2d at 48 ("Nonetheless, we find the trial court's admission of the challenged evidence was harmless. While it is true the eyewitnesses in the bank could not identify the gunman and no forensic evidence linked Martin to the robbery, the State presented ample

competent evidence of Martin's guilt."); State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) (stating "an insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached").

There was ample evidence of Petitioner's guilt to support the jury's guilty verdict. Petitioner was identified as the shooter by the victim, who had known Petitioner his entire life, knew him by his nickname, "Chips," identified him from a photo lineup, and identified him in the courtroom. The victim's wife, who saw the incident from inside her residence, also identified Petitioner as the shooter; she told law enforcement that the shooter was "Chips" before her husband told her who shot him, she identified him in a photo lineup, and identified him in the courtroom. Investigator Burgess recognized the nickname "Chips" and identified Petitioner as "Chips" immediately after the shooting. Both victims testified that Petitioner had a gun and shot at the victim. The shell casings found at the scene supported the testimony of Petitioner shooting at the victim. This evidence is clearly enough to support the jury's guilty verdict. Even if improper evidence of flight had been admitted at trial, there is no prejudice where there is ample competent evidence of Petitioner's guilt. Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proving that the outcome of the trial would have been different but for Trial Counsel's alleged deficiency, so the second prong of the Strickland test is not met.

Because Burgess's testimony was not evidence of flight, Trial Counsel was not deficient, and because the testimony could not have changed the outcome of the trial, Petitioner can show no prejudice from any alleged deficiency by Trial Counsel on cross-examination of Burgess. Therefore, the Strickland test cannot be met, and this Court should affirm the PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.